## FILED 9-18-15 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 71720-1-I

#### THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## DIVISION ONE

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY S. SOWERS,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MICK WOYNAROWSKI Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### A. **INTRODUCTION**

When Jeffrey Sowers picked up his fiancée Monica Galarosa's semi-automatic handgun, the couple's dog bit at him, and the gun went off. As a previously convicted felon, Mr. Sowers was not permitted to possess firearms, so while the couple summoned help, they also tried to hide his involvement in the accident.

Although Ms. Galarosa recovered fully and confirmed that Mr. Sowers was a loving, supporting, and positive force in her life, the State charged ahead with the notion that Mr. Sowers harmed her on purpose. The jury convicted him of assault in the third degree and two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree.

Mr. Sowers is entitled to a new trial because the court below erred in allowing the State to use as substantive evidence the oral statement police took from Ms. Galarosa without first administering an oath as required under ER 801(d)(2). The conviction for unlawful possession of the handgun cannot stand because the trial court should have permitted Mr. Sowers to argue to the jury that temporary handling of the weapon was necessary to avoid a risk of even greater harm: Ms. Galarosa had recently shown signs of being suicidal, was on methamphetamines at the time, and had pointed the gun at Mr. Sowers while "playing" with the dogs.

Both firearm possession convictions must also be reversed because the jury should have been given a <u>Petrich</u> instruction regarding both weapons, including the unloaded shotgun found in the back of a closet. A resentencing is needed because the trial court refused to treat the two weapon offenses as constituting the same course of criminal conduct.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by admitting Ms. Galarosa's prior statement as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i).

2. The trial court erred in refusing Mr. Sowers's s request to instruct the jury on a necessity defense with respect to Count III, the unlawful possession of a firearm (Taurus .45 caliber pistol).

3. The trial court erred in not instructing the jury that it must be unanimous with respect to the act supporting the State's allegation in Count III.

4. The trial court likewise erred in not instructing the jury that it must be unanimous with respect to the act supporting the State's allegation in Count IV, unlawful possession of a firearm (Hawk 12 gauge shotgun).

5. At sentencing, the trial court erred in scoring Counts III and IV separately and not concluding that the two acts of unlawful possession of a firearm constituted the same criminal conduct.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A prior inconsistent statement by a witness cannot be admitted as substantive evidence unless it was given under oath. The police took an oral statement from Ms. Galarosa, but did not administer an oath until she was done speaking. Given this error, should this Court reverse Mr. Sowers's conviction?

2. An accused has the constitutional right to present his defense, which includes the right to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case. Necessity is a common law defense that excuses otherwise criminal conduct when it is necessary to avoid a greater harm and is a defense available to the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm. Where Ms. Galarosa had shown signs of being suicidal, was high on drugs, and pointed the .45 Taurus semi-automatic at her fiancé, did the trial court commit reversible error in refusing to let Mr. Sowers argue to the jury that his temporary handling of the pistol was justified?

3. Any accused person has a constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict. When the prosecution presents evidence of several acts that could form the basis of the charge, either the State must tell the jury which act to rely upon in its deliberations, or the court must instruct jurors that all of them must agree that the same underlying criminal act has

been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the jury heard evidence that Mr. Sowers may have been in actual possession of the pistol and shotgun at different times, in different places, including on days other than that of the accident. Did the trial court commit reversible error in not giving a unanimity instruction?

4. Multiple crimes encompass the "same criminal conduct" if they result from the same criminal intent, involve the same victim, and occur at the same time and place. The evidence that the two firearms were typically kept in the same place was so clear that the prosecutor argued in closing: "[e]verything associated with both weapons was in his side of the closet... [a]mmunition for both weapons, that carry case for the pistol... [t]he shotgun." 4RP 24. At sentencing, did the trial court err in refusing to treat the two unlawful possession of a firearm convictions as a single point in the calculation of Mr. Sowers's offender score?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 2, 2013, multiple Snohomish County Sheriff Deputies were dispatched to an Everett home because of a reported shooting, either a suicide attempt or accident "due to the gun possibly falling." 1RP 77, 97. Upstairs, the officers found a man, Jeffrey Sowers, kneeling and giving aid to a woman, Monica Galarosa. 1RP 81-83, 99, 106. A semi-automatic handgun lay on the floor nearby. 1RP 82-83, 102. Ms. Galarosa was wounded in her back. 1RP 84. The police handcuffed Mr. Sowers and took him downstairs. 1RP 102. The already hectic scene was made even more chaotic by a barking dog. 1RP 126.

At trial, Ms. Galarosa testified that Mr. Sowers is her fiancé and that they have been in a happy dating relationship for several years. 2RP 4. She testified she owned a handgun and a shotgun. 2RP 6-7. She owned the firearms for personal protection and Mr. Sowers did not play a role in her getting the guns. 2RP 8. She testified she carried the handgun on her person and that the ammunition was in her car and closet. 2RP 9. She testified Mr. Sowers had told her "to get rid of them." 2RP 26, 33-34.

Ms. Galarosa testified that she was under the influence of methamphetamine on the afternoon of the accident. 2RP 14-15, 31-32. ("I was paranoid... I was out of my mind. I was whacked out. There was all kinds of things going on in my head." 2RP 17.) The couple had two dogs that needed to be walked, but in her state, she was unable to take them out. 2RP 6, 20. At some point that night, she took the handgun downstairs where Mr. Sowers was, and she used the gun's laser sight to amuse the dogs. 2RP 38. Mr. Sowers told her to put the gun down and she "tossed it down like an idiot," onto a table. 2RP 41, 54.

Mr. Sowers stayed downstairs. 2RP 25. She went back upstairs and "heard a big bang." 2RP 56. She had been shot. 2RP 40-41. In shock, she screamed Mr. Sowers's name and he came to help: "he was there... he put pressure on my back." 2RP 21. She went to the hospital. 2RP 23-24.<sup>1</sup>

Several days later, the police visited Ms. Galarosa at the hospital. She did not remember giving a recorded statement: "No, I don't. I would like to hear it." 2RP 24, 47-48. At the hospital, Ms. Galarosa was on narcotic pain medication that made her "very forgetful, foggy." 2RP 45-46. Another drug "made [her] feel very dark and suicidal." 2RP 46. She testified that she was affected by these medicines when the police interviewed her. 2RP 48.<sup>2</sup>

At trial, Detective Betts also testified about the hospital interview: "she was in a wheelchair, and we sat in front of her." 2RP 78. He said that Ms. Galarosa told him that she had shot herself and the jury was instructed that this information was presented "only for the purpose of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Part of her testimony was inconsistent with the 911 recording which apparently included her saying "I shot myself," but Ms. Galarosa did not remember telling the 911 operator or the detectives that is what happened. 2RP 57, 64-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Harborview physician testified that the combination of the drugs that Ms. Galarosa had been given could affect someone's cognitive abilities. 3RP 14. The interviewing officers apparently were unaware that Ms. Galarosa had taken medications or that she specifically took narcotics. 3RP 23; 3RP 102-05. Detective Betts said she was "coherent and engaging" when interviewed, but had been "drowsy and drifting in and out" few days earlier. 3RP 114-15.

impeachment." 2RP 79. Detective Betts said he and his partner did not believe Ms. Galarosa and told her they "weren't going [to] entertain any lies." 2RP 79, 81. Ms. Galarosa agreed to give a recorded statement. 2RP 81. Over defense objection, the trial court allowed the State to admit the recording into evidence as Exhibit 56<sup>3</sup> without any limit on how the jury could use it. 2RP 82-83.

The interview starts off with the police asking Ms. Galarosa to to consent to being recorded. She tells the police she is in a relationship with Mr. Sowers and that she has been battling addiction for twenty years. She tells the police she was high on the day of the accident. She said she "played" with the gun in the living room and then went upstairs. She said that she did not immediately realize she was shot.

At the very end of the recorded statement, Detective Betts says:

I'm going to end the statement now. Do you certify or declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of State of Washington that the facts stated on this tape are true and correct to the best of your knowledge and that this statement has been made freely voluntarily and without threats or promises of any kind? Would you like me to repeat that?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The record refers to a transcript, but does not contain one. As such, what follows is undersigned counsel's best effort to transcribe the audio.

Ms. Galarosa answers: "I don't understand what that's saying." Detective Betts repeats the warning and she says "yeah, yeah... um, I understand that." Detective Betts ends the recording.

The physical evidence contradicted the idea that Ms. Galarosa shot herself. The police recovered a single shell casing in the downstairs living room. 2RP 99-100. The casing matched the semi-automatic handgun found upstairs. 3RP 53-54. The handgun functioned as designed and it had a working laser sight. 3RP 35, 38, 93-94. Other physical evidence showed that the gun was fired downstairs and the bullet upstairs before wounding Ms. Galarosa. 2RP 105-06; 121-26; 4RP 37-38. A State's witness opined that there was not a line of sight between where the shot was fired and where Ms. Galarosa was hit. 4RP 44-45; 53-54.

In an upstairs closet the police found a soft firearm case "sandwiched between the wall and the dresser itself," and in it, an unloaded shotgun. 2RP 114, 116. In the same space, the police found "a military surplus ammunition can... a pistol storage box... and [] cleaning gear for firearms." 2RP 114-15, 117-18. The ammunition box contained ammunition for both the 12-gauge shotgun and for the semi-automatic

handgun. 2RP 119.<sup>4</sup> Also inside the closet the police collected what they described as "occupancy letters for Mr. Sowers's residence." 2RP 120; Ex. 40-52 (photographs of the closet).

When Ms. Galarosa was shot, police detectives interviewed Mr. Sowers. Deputy Serrao said that Mr. Sowers said he "heard" the shot. 1RP 113. Mr. Sowers's tape-recorded statement to the detectives was admitted and played for the jury. 3RP 85; Exhibit 54.<sup>5</sup> There, Mr. Sowers again said that Ms. Galarosa was doing "oddball things" when he "heard the gunshot" from downstairs. (Exhibit 54 at 8:45).

Mr. Sowers said that Ms. Galarosa, an exotic dancer, had never had a gun before and recently got one for protection. Mr. Sowers said the gun had been in the house about two weeks and that he had cleaned it with supplies kept in the closet. He had also shown her how to use it. (Id. at 13:50.) Mr. Sowers said when Ms. Galarosa left the gun out, he moved it onto shelves in the closet because he did not want it lying around.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State presented evidence that Mr. Sowers's DNA was on the shotgun. 3RP 69-74. However, he could not be either included or excluded as a contributor to the mixture of DNA found on the handgun. 3RP 75-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The record also does not contain a transcript of this interview. What follows is undersigned counsel's best effort to transcribe the audio.

He told the police he did not know where the gun had been that day and had no idea how she was shot. He said the two of them were home alone with their dogs and there had been no issues. (Id. at 18:30.)

The interrogating detective challenged Mr. Sowers by claiming that "something happened" but "not the way you explained it." (Id. at 21:10.) The detective asserted: "you got angry; she got angry; tempers flared." (Id. at 22:00.) Mr. Sowers asked: "so what's the charge?" (Id. at 25:00.) The police pressed: "it's killing you... you know what the truth is and it isn't what you told me... you have a sense of honor... I know you're dying on the inside... now is the time for us to get this out in the open." Mr. Sowers demurred: "it's not like this is a therapy session, I'm not walking out of this car on my own" and left his statement unchanged.

Ms. Galarosa also gave testimony as a defense witness. 4RP 76. She confirmed she had not been given a transcript of the tape-recorded statement or an opportunity to hear it prior to trial. 4RP 78-79. She said there were inaccuracies and falsehoods in that statement. 4RP 79. She said that she was under the effect of pain medicine when the police interviewed her. 4RP 79-80.

Ms. Galarosa testified she was playing with the dogs, using the gun's laser, "like an idiot." 4RP 96-97, 104. She indicated that she pointed

the laser and gun at Mr. Sowers. 4RP 98. After her own court-appointed attorney interjected, Ms. Galarosa explained that she was "playing" when this happened. 4RP 99. She said Mr. Sowers asked her to put the gun down. 4RP 99. She said that Mr. Sowers is "not an aggressive, yelling type of person." 4RP 100. She said that a week earlier, she had been in the bathtub pointing the shotgun to her own head while high. 4RP 101. Ms. Galarosa explained that she relapsed into drug use after she miscarried. 4RP 102.

Finally, Mr. Sowers testified in his own defense and also related he had seen Ms. Galarosa's shotgun in the bathroom when she had been suicidal. 4RP 106, 114. He agreed that he cannot possess or own firearms and had her agree to remove them. 4RP 106. He said that he cleaned the shotgun so that Ms. Galarosa would return it to her daughter, and stuck it in the back of the closet. 4RP 107; 142-144.

He testified that Ms. Galarosa got a handgun for self-protection and kept it in her car. 4RP 114-15. He saw it again when she brought it into the house on the day she was shot. 4RP 115, 117-19. He did not know where she kept it all of the time, but the handgun box was in the closet. 4RP 127, 128. Mr. Sowers testified that Ms. Galarosa put the pistol down on the table after he told her to but the laser light stayed on. 4RP 119. The couple's dog was "[n]ipping or trying to bite the light at the end of the laser, on the end of the gun," so Mr. Sowers picked up the gun and tried to turn the light off. 4RP 119-20. The dog jumped and clamped down on his hand; he "jerked and squeezed and a round went off." 4RP 120; 140-42.

Mr. Sowers testified that he wanted to put the gun away to eliminate the potential for Ms. Galarosa making another suicide attempt. 4RP 120. He admitted that he lied to Detective Betts in his statement. 4RP 122. Mr. Sowers did not think he stood a chance telling the truth to the police and he wanted to tell the truth to the jury instead. 4RP 124-25.

Defense requested that the jury be instructed on the defense of necessity, but that request was denied. 4RP 163-64. The jury acquitted Mr. Sowers of the charge of assault in the second degree, but convicted him of assault in the third degree, including a firearm enhancement. CP 81-82, 84. The jury also convicted him of two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 78-79. (The parties stipulated as true that Mr. Sowers had been convicted of a serious offense. 4RP 55.)

At sentencing, Ms. Galarosa thanked the officers who came to her aid. 2/26/14RP 12, 16. She talked about the love and support that Mr. Sowers has given her over the years, his strong work ethic, and their joint volunteer work. 2/26/14 RP 13-15. Her family was there with her, because they know that she and Mr. Sowers "are good for each other." 2/26/14RP 16. Mr. Sowers likewise expressed his love for Ms. Galarosa and his commitment to supporting her sobriety. 2/26/14RP 17-18.

The trial judge recognized that Mr. Sowers had succeeded in putting drug and alcohol use behind him and that he is a trusted and valued hard worker. 2/26/14RP 18-19. The trial judge also recognized that the sentencing impact of the assault charge "is far less than the range for simple possession of those firearms" and that running the firearm sentencing enhancement consecutive to the time that Mr. Sowers would have to serve for the substantive crime of unlawful possession of a firearm "creates an anomaly, and it's a bit troubling." 2/26/14RP 20. The trial judge rejected Mr. Sowers's argument that the unlawful possession of the shotgun and the unlawful possession of the semi-automatic handgun he was convicted of by the jury constituted the same course of criminal conduct. 2/2614RP 20-21 ("when you're in possession of separate weapons at separate locations within the home, that does not constitute the same criminal conduct"). Mr. Sowers timely appealed. CP 2-3.

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. The trial court erred in allowing the State to use as substantive evidence the oral statement police took from the complainant without first administering an oath as required under ER 801(d)(2).
  - a. <u>In order for a statement to be admitted as</u> <u>substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i),</u> <u>the State must show it was given under oath.</u>

The rule against hearsay generally requires exclusion of out-ofcourt statements that are offered in court for the truth of the matter asserted, ER 801(a)-(c); ER 802. A witness's prior inconsistent statement is not hearsay and may be admitted as substantive evidence if the declarant testified at trial, was subject to cross-examination, and the declarant gave the statement under oath subject to penalty of perjury "at a trial, hearing, or other proceeding, or in a deposition." ER 801(d)(1)(i); <u>State v. Nieto</u>, 119 Wn. App. 157, 161, 79 P.3d 473 (2003); <u>State v. McComas</u>, 186 Wn. App. 307, 312, 345 P.3d 36 (2015).

Pretrial, defense objected to the admission of Ms. Galarosa's audio-recorded statement to the police as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1), but acknowledged that any inconsistencies between the witness's in-court testimony and that statement could be admissible as impeachment, subject to a limiting instruction. 1RP 20-22. The trial court overruled the objection. 2RP 67-70, 71, 82.<sup>6</sup> The trial court also refused to redact any part of the statement: "I will allow the statement in its entirety." 2RP 70-71.

A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Nieto</u>, 119 Wn. App. at 160. A trial court abuses its discretion when it conducts an incomplete legal analysis or bases its ruling on a misapprehension of legal issues. <u>Id</u>. The court is "obligated to construe ER 801(d)(1)(i) according to its plain meaning, and to give effect to all of its language." <u>State v. Sua</u>, 115 Wn. App. 29, 48, 60 P.3d 1234 (2003). When a statement is not given under oath, it is not admissible as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i). <u>Id</u>. at 49; <u>McComas</u>, 186 Wn. App. at 319.

In <u>Sua</u>, the alleged victim told detectives her mother's boyfriend had touched her and the mother told detectives that the boyfriend expressed an interest in bearing a child with the alleged victim. 115 Wn. App. at 32. Each provided a written statement and signed under a paragraph that said: "The above is a true and correct statement to the best of my knowledge. No threats or promises have been made to me nor any duress used against me." <u>Id</u>. at 33. At trial, both the alleged victim and her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even the State would later acknowledge that Ms. Galarosa's in-court testimony was less inconsistent with the statement than expected. 2RP 69.

mother recanted. <u>Id</u>. at 33-34. The State initially sought to admit the prior statements as impeachment evidence, but after the defense moved to dismiss the case for insufficient evidence, the court admitted the statements as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i). <u>Id</u>. at 34-36.

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