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

afternoon at about 4 pm, upset that a friend of hers had relapsed. 

Ex. 54. She went upstairs to paint her toenails and he brought his 

leathers downstairs to clean them. He heard a gunshot from 

upstairs and ran up to find Galarosa wounded and lying on the 

floor, the Taurus on the floor nearby. Id. 

Detectives told the defendant they had found only one spent 

casing and that it was downstairs. Ex. 54. They challenged him to 

tell them the truth. The defendant said he had nothing to add to 

what he had already said and asked, "What's the charge?" kl 

Three days later, Detective Betts visited Galarosa at 

Harborview Hospital. 2RP 76. Since Galarosa was groggy, he 

agreed to speak with her on another day. Id. On March 7, 

Galarosa called him and asked him to come and take her 

statement. 2RP 77. 

Detective Betts interviewed Galarosa the next day. 2RP 77. 

Galarosa was much more alert, tracked his questions, and gave 
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appropriate answers. 2RP 78. She begged him not to send the 

defendant to prison. !!!:. 

At first, Galarosa said the gun went off either when she was 

twirling it on her finger or when she dropped it. 2RP 79. Detectives 

told her they did not believe her because of the physical evidence. 

2RP 79-80. Galarosa agreed to give a recorded statement. 2RP 

81; Exhibit 56. 

Detective Betts started the recording by giving the date, 

time, and location, and identifying the voices on the tape. Ex. 56. 

Galarosa told detectives that she was an addict who had relapsed 

on the day she was shot. When she came home, she tried to push 

the defendant's buttons but he was not responding. He told her to 

go upstairs while he stayed downstairs polishing his jacket and 

cleaning the Taurus. !!!:. 

After Galarosa went upstairs, she heard a shot and realized 

she had been hit. Ex. 56. She thought the defendant had shot in 

the air to get her attention. She knew it was an accident. kl 

Galarosa said the defendant had purchased the Taurus for 

her about a month earlier. Ex. 56. She said it was usually in a 

holster or a box. She said the laser on it was only used to play with 

the dog. She explained that the shotgun was hers as well and that 
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she had had it for about four months. It, to9, was kept in the 

bedroom closet. ~ 

At the end of the interview, which lasted just over 20 

minutes, Detective Betts asked: 

Do you certify or declare under penalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of Washington that the 
facts stated on this tape are true and correct to the 
best of your knowledge and that the statement has 
been made freely, voluntarily, and without threats or 
promises of any kind? 

Ex. 56. He offered to read it again and she responded as he did: 

Do you certify or declare under penalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of Washington that the 
facts stated on this tape are true and correct (yeah) to 
the best of your knowledge (yeah) and that this 
statement has been made freely, voluntarily, and 
without threats or promise of any kind? 

~ She then said, "Yes, I understand that." She said she wanted 

to add one last thing, that she did not know who had shot her. 

Detective Betts asked her to sign the statement and he signed 

underneath her name. Ex. 56. 

At trial, Galarosa told a somewhat different story. She 

testified that the shotgun and pistol were hers alone, that the 

defenda·nt had not gotten them for her, and that she had never 

seen him use them. 2RP 9. She said she had brought the Taurus 

downstairs to play with the dog the day she was shot. 2RP 38. 
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When the defendant told her to put it down, she tossed the Taurus 

onto a table. 2RP 41. 

She said the gun just went off. 2RP 41, 25. She said she did 

not remember much of what had occurred or telling anyone she 

dropped the gun or making a statement at Harborview. 2RP 57. 

She said there were inaccuracies in her recorded statement. 4RP 

79. 

The court admitted the entire recorded statement under ER 

801 (d)(1 )(i) as substantive evidence. 2RP 67. Defense objected 

because although the language at the end was that typically 

accepted under the rule, the statement was recorded, not written, 

and Galarosa had not had a chance to review it. 1 RP 20. The 

court rejected that argument because a recorded statement was 

less likely to be inaccurate or incomplete than one filled out by an 

officer for a victim . .!.9:, "[l]t strikes me that there's no inherent flaw 

with a recorded statement in terms of the reliability aspects that the 

rule is founded on." !fh at 22. 

The defendant also told a different story at trial. The 

defendant testified that he and Galarosa were addicts and that in 

the past while he was using drugs he had been convicted of 

felonies. 4RP 108. 
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He said he gave Galarosa money to purchase the Taurus 

and arranged with a friend for its purchase. 4RP 115, 135. He said 

he knew there were firearms in the house he shared with Galarosa 

but they were not his and he told her to get rid of them. 4RP 114, 

115, 128. He said he knew Galarosa tried to commit suicide with a 

shotgun so he cleaned it and put it back in the shared closet. 4RP 

106, 114. He made a decision that both guns needed to be taken 

from the house. 4RP 137. 

The defendant testified that on the day he shot Galarosa he 

was home cleaning his leathers and she came home high on drugs. 

4RP 116. She went upstairs but came back down with the Taurus 

so that he could either clean it or show her how to. 4RP 136. She 

began to wave the gun around and let the dog chase the laser. 

4RP 118-19. 

The defendant said Galarosa never threatened him with the 

gun. 4RP 136. Instead, she became angry when he would not 

clean the guns or show her how to do it. 4RP 136, 138. 

The defendant said Galarosa put the Taurus on the table but 

left the laser light on and the dog was nipping at it. 4RP 119. 

Asked why he had picked up the gun, the defendant said, 
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Well, I was - I was - I have to say that I was mad that 
the gun was still in the house. You know, I didn't want 
to go through another suicide attempt. I wanted to 
eliminate any potential. So in the back of my mind, I 
figured I would just take the gun and return it myself. 

4RP 120. He said when he picked it up, his finger was on the 

trigger and the dog made him fire it by jumping up and biting him on 

his hand, not hard and leaving no marks. 4RP 120, 142, 145. 

The defendant said he had lied to Detective Betts. 4RP 123. 

He said he was afraid the police knew his criminal history and he 

did not think they would believe his story about the dog. 4RP 120, 

125. He said he was saving it for the jury. 4RP 125. He could 

not explain why he told Detective Betts that he had previously fired 

the Taurus. 4RP 150. 

The defendant admitted he wanted a firearm, tried to get a 

firearms permit, and was not permitted, as a felon, to possess 

firearms. 4RP 145. He could not explain why he told Detective 

Betts that he had purchased the Taurus. 4RP 128. 

The defendant also admitted to cleaning the shotgun a week 

earlier, zipping it in its case, and leaving it in the shared closet 

where detectives found it. 4RP 142-43. He admitted he had filled 

out the concealed weapons permit application and said a clerk had 

told him convicts could not possess weapons. 4RP 145. He did 

10 



not know why he had not called a friend to dispose of the firearms. 

4RP 137. He said that except for the suicide attempt, Galarosa had 

not been acting erratically. 4RP 138. 

The court admitted the defendant's pretrial statements, both 

to responding deputies and to Det. Betts. Ex. 3 and 54. 

At the close of trial, the defendant proposed a necessity 

instruction related to Count Ill, the unlawful possession of the 

Taurus. 4RP 159. Defense appears not to have filed a copy of the 

proposed instruction but it was discussed on the record. The 

defendant argued he was entitled to a necessity instruction 

because he possessed the gun only as a "measured response" to a 

greater threat: that of leaving the laser on or leaving bullets in the 

gun. 4RP 162. The court disagreed. 4RP 163. The defendant 

had not testified that he picked up the gun to get it out of the house 

or insure the safety was on or to remove possible live rounds or out 

of fear the dog might fire it. 4RP 163-64. Galarosa was no longer 

a danger as she was not in the room. 4RP 164. There was no 

evidence that no reasonable alternatives existed such as calling a 

neighbor or 911 or a first responder to retrieve the gun. Id. 

The jury found the defendant guilty of Third Degree Assault 

with a Firearm Enhancement and two counts of First Degree UPF. 
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CP 78, 79, 81, 82. At sentencing, the court denied the defense 

request to score the two UPF counts as "same criminal conduct." 

2/16/14RP 20-21. The court found the defendant unlawfully 

possessed two separate firearms that were used, found, or 

possessed in different locations and were not, under the 

circumstances, same criminal conduct. Id. 

Ill. ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED AS 
SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE THE VICTIM'S PRIOR 
INCONSISTANT STATEMENT WHICH WAS MADE DURING A 
POLICE INVETIGATION AND UNDER PENAL TY OF PERJURY. 

1. The Statement Met All The Requirement Of A Sworn 
Statement. 

The defendant argues that the Galarosa's out-of-court 

statement to Detective Betts should not have been admitted as 

substantive evidence under ER 801 (d)(1 )(i) because it was not 

given under oath. However, the evidence showed that the 

statement was sworn under penalty of perjury. 

A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for an 

abuse of discretion. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 

P.2d 1239 (1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial 

court's ruling was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable 

grounds. Stenson, at 701 . An abuse occurs when a trial court's 
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ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law. State v. 

Mccomas, 186 Wn. App. at 312. 

Under E~ 801 (d)(1 )(i), a prior inconsistent statement is not 

hearsay and may be admitted as substantive evidence if the 

declarant testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination, the 

statement was inconsistent with the testimony, was given under 

oath subject to penalty of perjury, and was provided at a another 

proceeding or in a deposition. State v. Nieto, 119 Wn. App. 157, 

161, 79 P.3d 473 (2003). A statement made to investigating police 

officers as a complaint and subject to penalty of perjury, often 

called a "Smith affidavit", suffices as one made in another 

proceeding. State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 856, 651 P.2d 207 (1982); 

State v. Nelson, 74 Wn. App. 380, 386-87, 874 P.2d 170 (1994). 

The oath requirement exists to provide a minimal guarantee of 

truthfulness. Smith, 97 Wn. 2d at 862. 

In the present case, the defendant argues that the recorded 

statement does not carry a minimal guarantee of truthfulness 

because it was not made under oath. He is incorrect since the 

statement was made under penalty of perjury. 

RCW 9A.72.085 requires that a sworn statement: 
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( 1 ) Recites that it is certified or declared by the person 
to be true under penalty of perjury; 

(2) Is subscribed by the person; 

(3) States the date and place of its execution; and 

( 4) States that it is so certified or declared under the 
laws of the State of Washington. 

Nelson, 74 Wn. App. at 390. An unswom statement that satisfies 

the statute is equivalent to a sworn statement for purposes of ER 

801(d)(1)(i). Id. Mccomas, 186 Wn.2d at 318. 

In State v. Sua, the court refused to admit as substantive 

evidence sworn but unsigned prior inconsistent statements. 115 

Wn. App. 29, 48, 60 P.2d 1234 (2003). Without signatures, the 

statements were not given under oath. Id. The present case is 

entirely different because Detective Betts read Galarosa the oath 

and perjury language not once but twice, made sure she audibly 

agreed that she understood it, and watched her sign it. 

No copy of the signature page was admitted into evidence. 

However the court heard testimony that made clear that Galarosa 

affixed her signature to the certification. The certification referred to 

the "foregoing" oral statement. No more was required. 

No case cited by the defendant supports his argument that 

the oath must be given before the statement is made. In Smith, the 
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victim wrote her statement, signed each page, read the oath, and 

signed her name. 97 Wn.2d at 856. Afterwards she appeared 

before a notary. l!h at 858. The court held that ER 801(d)(1)(i) did 

not automatically exclude or admit such an affidavit but rather 

directed the court to analyze the evidence with an eye to reliability 

and minimal guarantees of truthfulness. Id. at 861-62. 

In Nelson, a police officer, not the witness, wrote down what 

the witness told him. 7 4 Wn. App. 380. The officer then took the 

witness and the statement to a notary. The notary did not 

administer an oath but testified that she asks affiants if they have 

read it. l!h at 390. The court found that the declarant's signature 

satisfied the minimal guarantee of truthfulness because it showed 

that she understood the statement was made under penalty of 

perjury. l!h 

That is precisely what happened in the present case. The 

recording contained Det. Betts' voice as he read Galarosa the 

perjury language not once but twice. It contained her agreement 

that she understood the perjury language. It contained his directive 

to her to sign the statement to swear to its truth. It contained his 

statement that he would sign under her name. It contained the date 
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and location of its execution. The audio statement met the 

statutory requirements and was thus a sworn statement. 

State v. Mccomas, 186 Wn. App. 307, 345 P.3d 36, review 

denied, _ P.3d _ (2015), calls for no other result. There, the 

witness gave police an audio statement about an assault. At the 

end, she was asked if she declared her statement was given under 

penalty of perjury. She said yes but did not add her signature. Id. 

at 309. Because the statement was neither signed nor dated, it did 

not meet the minimal guarantees of truthfulness required. kl:. at 

319. 

In the present case, the audio recording did contain the 

location, date, Galarosa's explicit understanding of the oath, and 

her signature, "where it says signature". Ex. 56. The recording 

even picked up the sound of Galarosa's pen as she signed. Id. 

That is more than is sufficient to support the trial court's exercise of 

discretion because it met the minimal guarantees of truthfulness the 

case law requires. There was no need for the court to require the 

actual document, one not challenged by defense, because the 

court is not bound by the rules of evidence in questions of 

admissibility. ER 1101(c); ER 104(a}. 
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The present case is nothing like Nieto, 119 Wn. App. 167. 

There, the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted a 

statement as substantive evidence when the oath was misleading. 

k!:. at 161-62. The oath read: 

I have read each page of this statement consisting of 
_ page(s). Each page bears my signature, and all 
corrections, if any, bear my initials. I certify (or 
declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of Washington that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

Id. The penalty of perjury language was ambiguous because the 

term "foregoing" could have referred to the first two sentences of 

the boilerplate language rather than to the statement itself. Id. 

Moreover, the witness testified that she had not read the oath and 

no one testified that he had read it to her. k!:. at 165. 

There is no ambiguity in the present case. The perjury 

language referred not to anything "foregoing" but explicitly to the 

facts on the recording. Detective Betts read the oath twice and 

Galarosa stated on tape that she understood it. Her trial testimony 

was not that she was not given or did not understand the oath but 

rather that she did not remember it. 

As the trial court noted, Galarosa's statement was more 

likely to be accurate than one an officer had written or transcribed. 
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There was no suggestion that the tape was doctored and no one 

raised an issue about its authenticity or accuracy. The court found 

the difference between a recording and a written statement 

unimportant. Id. "[l]t strikes me that there's no inherent flaw with a 

recorded statement in terms of the reliability aspects that the rule is 

founded on." Id. at 22. That was not an abuse of discretion. 

2. If The Trial Court Erred, The Error Was Harmless Because 
The Evidence Of Guilt Was Overwhelming. 

Even if the trial court abused its discretion, the defendant's 

conviction still should be affirmed because the evidence of his guilt 

was overwhelming. Any error that occurred was harmless because 

there was no reasonable probability the jury would have reached a 

different verdict without having heard the recorded statement. 

When a trial court admits evidence in violation of an 

evidentiary rule, reversal is required if the reviewing court finds that,

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